## No. 15-1373/16-0988

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

#### TSB HOLDINGS, L.L.C. and 911 N. GOVERNOR, L.L.C.,

Plaintiffs-Appellants,

VS.

## CITY OF IOWA CITY, IOWA,

Defendant-Appellee.

## TSB HOLDINGS, L.L.C. and 911 N. GOVERNOR, L.L.C.,

Plaintiffs-Appellants/Cross-Appellees,

VS.

## BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT FOR THE CITY OF IOWA CITY,

Defendant-Appellee/Cross-Appellant.

Review of Decision of Iowa Court of Appeals
Dated October 11, 2017

#### APPLICATION FOR FURTHER REVIEW

James W. Affeldt Charles A. Meardon

ELDERKIN & PIRNIE, P.L.C. MEARDON, SUEPPEL & DOWNER P.L.C.

316 2nd Street SE, Suite 124 122 South Linn Street

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

In *Kempf*, the property owners successfully challenged the downzoning of their property and obtained an injunction prohibiting the City from interfering with construction of apartment buildings thereon. The current consolidated cases (Appeal Nos. 15-1373 and 16-0988) involve TSB's appeals of the trial courts' and Court of Appeals' denial of TSB's requested relief against the City and the BOA.

In 2013 TSB, owner of the *Kempf* property, sought to construct apartment buildings on parts of the property as it believed *Kempf* permitted. In response the City downzoned the relevant parts of the property to prevent TSB's proposed construction. TSB sued the City (15-1373) to challenge the downzoning and the BOA (16-0988) for denying is site plan for construction of apartments TSB contended was permitted by *Kempf*. During TSB's appeals this Court decided *Dakota*.

On October 11, 2017 the Court of Appeals entered its ruling affirming the denial of TSB's requested relief in both 15-1373 and 16-0988 based extensively on *Dakota*. Since it relied exclusively on *Dakota* to dismiss the BOA action the Court of Appeals declined to address a number of appeal issues raised by TSB therein. This Application for Further Review followed.

## BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF FURTHER REVIEW

## I. <u>Factual Background and Procedural History</u>

These appeals find their genesis in *Kempf v. City of Iowa City*, 402 N.W.2d 393 (Iowa 1987). Wayne Kempf and his partners bought property in Iowa City in 1972. The property is six assembled and numbered lots, Lots 49-51 on the west and Lots 8-10 on the east (16-0988 App 216). At the time of its purchase the property was zoned R3B, a classification that permitted construction of apartment buildings. Kempf invested \$114,500 to acquire the property and prepare it for development. Kempf intended to construct five apartment buildings and an office building on the property. After completion of the office building on Lots 8 and 9, Kempf began construction of a 29-unit apartment building on part of Lot 50. After neighbor complaints the City revoked Kempf's building permit and downzoned the property. After obtaining relief to complete the 29-unit building, trial proceeded on Kempf's claim that the downzoning constituted a taking of the undeveloped 2.12 acres of the property. This Court held:

The overwhelming evidence discloses the lots in the remaining 2.12 acres of the Kempf tract cannot be improved with any development that would be economically feasible. For this reason, we find that application of the downzoning

ordinance to the lots in the 2.12 acres would be unreasonable.

...We hold that [the 1978 zoning] may apply to the Kempf property, provided, however, that Kempf shall be permitted to proceed with development of apartment buildings, as shown by the record in this case, to the extent that such buildings conform to the ordinances in effect prior to the 1978 rezoning. The City shall be enjoined from prohibiting this use by Kempf. Further development or redevelopment of the property beyond that contemplated by Kempf as shown in this record and noted in this opinion, whether carried out by Kempf or future owners, will be subject to the amended ordinance above designated.

This Court remanded the case back to the district court "for a disposition in conformance with this opinion." *Kempf*, 402 N.W. 2d at 393-401.

On remand the trial court issued an order (the "Remand Order") which described the undeveloped 2.12 acres of the property and stated:

The owner or owners of said properties, and their successors and assigns, shall be permitted to develop these properties [Lots 10, 49, 51 and part of Lot 50] with multiple dwellings (apartments) in accordance with the provisions applicable to the R3B zone in effect on May 30, 1978...

...The City is and shall be enjoined from interfering with development of these properties as herein provided.

Once a use has been developed or established on any of the above-described properties, further development or redevelopment of that property shall be subject to the zoning ordinances in effect at the time such further development or redevelopment is undertaken.

The City did not challenge the language in the Remand Order and in fact approved it (<u>Id</u>. at 213-15).<sup>1</sup>

In 1989 and 1990 Kempf constructed a 12-unit building on part of Lot 50 and granted an electrical easement across parts of Lots 49, 50 and 10 for utilities thereto (16-0988 App. 424, 451). Other than the electrical easement and the 12-unit building on Lot 50, the parts of the property described in the Remand Order (Lots 10, 49 and 51) are unimproved since the issuance of the *Kempf* rulings.

Beginning in 2005 Kempf-related entities which owned the property entered a series of transactions in which they divested themselves thereof in parts.<sup>2</sup> In 2005, AB Investments (a Kempf entity) sold Lots 49-51 to Main Street Partners for \$2,400,000. In 2009, TSB acquired Lots 49-51 for \$3,400,000. In 2013, TSB acquired Lots 8-10 by purchasing 911 N. Governor LLC for between \$220,000 and \$240,000 (16-0988 App. 400-410).

.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Kempf and the Remand Order are collectively "the Kempf rulings" as appropriate.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> TSB notes these transactions as they were significant to the trial court in 16-0988.

The series of events giving rise to this litigation began in late 2012 when the City amended its comprehensive plan to downzone the property. Stated summarily, the City sought to downzone Lots 49 and part of Lot 50 from R3B, a classification that permitted additional apartment buildings, to RM20, a classification that allowed the existing buildings but no further construction thereof. The City sought to rezone Lots 8-10 to RS-8, a classification which prohibited apartment buildings (15-1373 App 12-22). In early January, 2013, prior to the downzoning, TSB submitted a site plan to construct a single apartment building on Lots 49-50 (16-0988 App. 399). A City zoning official evaluated the site plan as if the *Kempf* rulings applied (*Id.* at 305-307). Later in January TSB submitted a revised site plan showing apartment buildings on Lots 10, 49 and 51 along with the demolition of the existing office building on Lots 8 and 9 (Id. at 395, 422). This site plan was rejected by a city zoning official without any *Kempf* analysis as not complying with the proposed downzoning (Id. at 202). TSB filed two challenges to the downzoning which was effective March 28, 2013 (Ordinance 13-4518 as appropriate). The first action filed in February, 2013 (EQCV075292) sought declaratory relief to halt the downzoning. Subsequent to its passage TSB filed a Certiorari action (CVCV075457) challenging the

legality thereof and alleging it constituted a taking (15-1373 App. 134-Both actions were based on the Kempf rulings. 138, 160-162). EQCV075292 and CVCV075457 were consolidated (the Zoning action/15-1373). TSB filed the required administrative appeal of the denial of its site plan to the BOA claiming that the *Kempf* rulings governed development of the property and not Ordinance 13-4518. The BOA affirmed the zoning official's ruling denying TSB's site plan based on the downzoning and stated it was without authority to determine whether the *Kempf* rulings applied to the property (16-0988 App. 392-394). TSB filed the BOA action claiming that it (the BOA) acted illegally in denying TSB's site plan. TSB also sought a declaratory judgment that the *Kempf* rulings, and not Ordinance 13-4518, governed development of the property (*Id.* 8-11)

Trial Court Proceedings in 15-1373. TSB and the City filed motions for summary judgment. TSB asserted that the downzoning violated the *Kempf* rulings' permitted construction of apartments and their injunctions prohibiting the City from interfering therewith. TSB contended that Ordinance 13-4518 constituted interference as a matter of law because TSB's site plan was undisputedly denied by the city zoning official and the BOA based solely thereon. The City asserted that

the downzoning was a legitimate exercise of its police power and that any illegality related to the failure to follow the *Kempf* rulings was a matter to be raised in the BOA action.<sup>3</sup> The City sought to dismiss TSB's takings claim for failing to meet notice pleading requirements. The trial court agreed with the City for its proffered reasons, granted the City's Motion and dismissed TSB's claims (15-1373 App. 170-182).

Trial Court Proceedings in 16-0988. TSB's claims against the BOA proceeded to trial. Three months prior thereto the BOA sought leave to amend its answer to raise four affirmative defenses (failure to state a claim, laches, res judicata and an unidentified statute of limitations). The trial court denied the BOA's motion and found that the amendment would substantially change the issues for trial with resulting prejudice to TSB (16-0988 App. 38-40). The trial court sustained TSB's Motion in Limine to prohibit introduction of any evidence related to unpled affirmative defenses at trial (*Id.* 56, 57).

A bench trial was held January 5 and 6, 2016 which involved presentation of evidence related to determining the meaning of the *Kempf* rulings. The legal issues were: 1) whether the right to construct

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> In light of *Dakota* it is important to note that the City did not raise the statute of limitations related to judgments of record, Iowa Code Section 614.1(6), as a defense to TSB's *Kempf* claims.

apartments under Kempf was intended to be personal to Kempf notwithstanding the owners/successors/assigns language in the Remand Order; 2) whether TSB qualified as an "owner or owners, their successors and assigns;" 3) whether the type of "use" contemplated by the Remand Order had been "developed or established" on each relevant part of the 2.12 acres; 4) whether TSB's proposed site plan construction constituted "further development or redevelopment" subject to the Ordinance 13-4518; 5) whether the BOA acted illegally in failing to consider the *Kempf* rulings when evaluating TSB's site plan; and 6) whether TSB's claim for declaratory relief violated public policy as infringing on the City's power to rezone property. The trial court concluded that any right to build apartments under *Kempf* was personal to Kempf and the Remand Order's use of the terms "owner or owners, their successors or assigns" was inappropriate. The trial court held that TSB did not qualify as an owner, successor or assign based on extrinsic evidence related to the intent of intervening purchasers of the property who did not intend to build apartments and the fact that the property was sold in parts and not as a whole as owned by Kempf himself. The trial court held that Kempf established a "use" on the entire property by the way he "used" it since 1990 and by granting the 1990 electrical

The trial court concluded that utilizing any part of the easement. property differently than Kempf did as of 1990 would constitute, by definition, "further development or redevelopment" subject to current ordinances. The trial court agreed with the BOA's public policy defense (16-0988 App. 58-73). TSB filed a timely Motion to Enlarge to seek clarification related to the trial court's conclusion about the personal nature of *Kempf*, whether the right to build on the property was inherent in its ownership, whether it relied on any unpled affirmative defense in its conclusions and to clarify what *Kempf*-contemplated "use" had been "developed or established" on each relevant part of the property and as of when. TSB also asked the trial court to address its standing argument concerning the BOA's public policy defense and sought clarification of other matters (Id. 74-78). TSB's Motion was denied (Id. 79-82). TSB timely filed notices of appeal in 15-1373 and 16-0988 (15-1373 App. 336, 337, 16-0988 App. 83, 84).

TSB'S Appeals in 15-1373 and 16-0988. TSB's appeals were transferred to the Court of Appeals. TSB's appeal argument in 15-1373 was relatively simple. While acknowledging that the *Kempf* rulings contemplated the possible rezoning of the property, TSB asserted that it was nevertheless illegal to pass a zoning ordinance for the specific

purposes of stopping the very construction permitted by the *Kempf* rulings. The actions of both the city zoning official and the BOA proved, as a matter of law, that the downzoning had its intended effect of stopping construction of apartments. Citing *Boomhower v. Cerro Gordo Bd. of Adjustment*, 163 N.W.2d 75 (Iowa 1968), TSB asserted that since the BOA had no choice but to follow the city zoning the BOA action was not the proper forum to litigate *Kempf*-related issues. TSB also asserted its takings claim met notice pleading requirements.

In 16-0988 TSB contended that the rights granted under *Kempf* were not personal and the "owner or owners, their successors and assigns" language in the Remand Order was appropriate for a variety of reasons and even if not, the BOA could not challenge such language 28 years after the City attorney approved it. TSB contended it qualified as an "owner or owner, successors and assigns" under any reasonable construction of these terms. TSB contended that the trial court erroneously determined that a *Kempf*-contemplated "use" had been "developed or established" because there were literally no physical changes on Lots 49, 51 and 10 where TSB proposed to construct

apartments since prior to the *Kempf* rulings.<sup>4</sup> TSB contended that the BOA's unpled public policy defense violated the trial court's ruling on TSB's Motion in Limine and more significantly the BOA lacked standing to raise this defense for the City. The BOA cross appealed the trial court's denial of its Motion to Amend to raise the statute of limitations and, for the first time on appeal, identified Iowa Code Section 614.1(6) as applying in the BOA action.

After TSB's appeals were submitted this Court decided *Dakota*. *Dakota* involved an attempt to enforce an injunction stemming from a 1977 judgment through contempt proceedings. The *Dakota* defendant moved to dismiss and argued that any claims based on the 1977 judgment were time barred by Iowa Code Section 614.1(6), the statute of limitations related to judgments of record. The *Dakota* court stated that the 1977 judgment "expired under Iowa Code section 614.1(6)" and held that its enforcement was barred thereby. *Dakota*, 898 N.W.2d at 139. In light of *Dakota* the Court of Appeals requested the parties to brief the issue of whether the trial court's denial of the BOA's Motion to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> While TSB recognizes the granting of the electrical easement after *Kempf*, TSB contended that an easement is not the type of "use" contemplated by the *Kempf* rulings and therefore no such use had been developed or established by virtue of its granting.

Amend to raise Section 614.1(6) precluded application of *Dakota* to 16-0988 (but not 15-1373).

On October 11, 2017, the Court of Appeals ruled. The Court of Appeals analyzed *Dakota* and concluded, on its own motion, that *Dakota* was outcome dispositive of TSB's claims in both appeals. The Court of Appeals read *Dakota* not as a statute of limitations case but to mean that any judgment expires 20 years after its rendering absent renewal. The Court of Appeals reasoned that since TSB's claims were based on the Kempf rulings from 1987, TSB had to prove these rulings were still in force as an element of its claims; since the *Kempf* rulings expired in 2007 and TSB's claims were filed thereafter, under Dakota TSB could not do so. The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's ruling in the Zoning action (15-1373) based on its reading of *Dakota* and its belief that to permanently enjoin the City from rezoning the property was The Court of Appeals held that the dismissal of TSB's inappropriate. takings claim was improper and remanded 15-1373 for further proceedings related thereto. The Court of Appeals affirmed the result in the BOA action based solely on Dakota and therefore declined to reach the appeal issues related to the construction of the *Kempf* rulings or the denial of the BOA's Motion to Amend. This Application for Further Review followed. Other facts appear as necessary.

#### II. Argument

A. The Court of Appeals erroneously relied on *Dakota* to deny TSB's claims for relief against the City and BOA.

*Dakota* held that a contempt action based on an injunction from a 1977 ruling, brought in 2013, was time-barred by Section 614.1(6). *Dakota*, 898 N.W.2d at 139. Based on issues appearing herein that were not before this Court in *Dakota*, TSB believes it is important to quote the relevant parts of the statute in their entirety. Iowa Code Section 614.1(6) provides:

- 614.1 Actions may be brought within the times herein limited, respectively, *after their causes of action accrue*, and not afterward, except when otherwise specifically declared:
- 614.1(6) Judgments of Courts of Record. Those founded on a judgment of a court of record, whether this or of any other of the United States, or of the Federal courts of the United States, within 20 years, except that a time period limitation shall not apply to an action to recover on a judgment for child support, spousal support or a judgment of distribution of marital assets....

(emphasis added). The Court of Appeals held that *Dakota* applied to TSB's appeals, the *Kempf* rulings "expired" in 2007, and that TSB cannot rely on an "expired" judgment to claim illegality of the City's rezoning of

the property. *See* Court of Appeals Ruling at 17. The Court of Appeals erred in its extension of *Dakota* for the following reasons: (1) the Court of Appeals read *Dakota* to limit the duration of judgments rather than causes of actions to enforce judgments, (2) the Court of Appeal's interpretation of *Dakota* is not in accord with Iowa law regarding pleading affirmative defenses, (3) the Court of Appeals interpretation of *Dakota* creates a litany of problems and uncertainty for Iowa property law matters, and (4) the Court of Appeals should not have applied *Dakota* retroactively to TSB's appeals.

# 1. The Court of Appeals erred in reading *Dakota* to limit the duration of judgments rather than causes of actions to enforce judgments.

The *Dakota* court did not specifically address the issue of when a cause of action accrues upon a judgment of record, nor did it address the question of whether the discovery rule applies to causes of action based on judgments of record. Section 614.1 provides "actions may be brought within the times herein limited, respectively, after their causes accrue." Iowa Code Section 614.1(6) does not regulate the "duration of judgments" but regulates only when "actions may be brought" to enforce a judgment. The statute does not provide that judgments "expire" after twenty years; it provides only that an "action" on a

Judgment cannot be brought after twenty years. Other parts of Iowa Code pertaining to the limitation of actions show that if the legislature intended such a result it was aware of how to say so. *See* Iowa Code Section 614.1(7) (stating that no action shall be brought to set aside a judgment or decree quieting title to real estate unless the same be commenced within ten years *from and after the rendition thereof.* (emphasis added)).<sup>5</sup>

TSB contends the discovery rule applies to Iowa Code Section 614.1(6). Iowa Code Section 614.1 requires a cause of action to accrue.<sup>6</sup> A cause of action accrues or matures when a claimant sustains actual loss or resulting damage. *See Vossoughi v. Polashek*, 859 N.W.2d 643, 652 (Iowa 2015) (medical malpractice case describing when a cause of action accrues). Generally when the term "accrued" is used in a statute

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See also, Judge McDonald's concurrence discussing Iowa Code § 615.1 (providing that certain judgments related to real estate shall be 'null and void' after two years). Court of Appeals Ruling at 25.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> "It may be true that a cause of action on a money judgment accrues on the date of judgment. It may also be true that a cause of action to enforce an injunction compelling affirmative action—i.e., the injunction at issue in *Dakota Railroad*—accrues on the date of judgment entry. However, it is not true that a cause of action on all judgments or injunctions accrues on the date of judgment entry." Court of Appeals Ruling at 26, McDonald, J., concurring.

of limitations the discovery rule applies. *Stoller Fisheries, Inc. v. American Title Ins. Co.*, 258 N.W.2d 336, 340 (Iowa 1977); *Vachon v. State*, 514 N.W.2d 442, 445 (Iowa 1994) (same). The injunction in *Kempf* restrained an interference with rights. TSB's injury did not occur until City passed Ordinance 13-4518 and the city zoning official/BOA used it to deny TSB's site plan. Assuming the *Kempf* rulings apply to TSB, TSB's claims accrued in 2013 and are not time barred if the discovery rule applies. The Court of Appeals application of *Dakota* does away with the concept of accrual and the discovery rule in holding that the judgment expires of its own force after twenty years. Such a reading of *Dakota* is contrary to the plain language of Section 614.1(6).7

## 2. The Court of Appeal's reading of *Dakota* is not in accord with Iowa law regarding pleading affirmative defenses.

The issue in *Dakota* involved the statute of limitations with respect to judgments of record. A statute of limitations defense must be raised by the party relying on the defense, which then has the burden of proving the claim is time barred. *See Carter v. Fleener*, No. 10-1970, 2011 WL 5867061, at \*7 (Iowa App. 2011). If the defense is not pled it

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> See also, Judge McDonald's concurrence citing an additional textual difficulty with *Dakota* related foreign judgments.

is waived. *See Id.* (quoting, *Cuthburtson v. Harry C. Harter Post No. 839 of the V.F.W.*, 65 N.W.2d 83, 87 (1954)). It is reversible error for the district court to raise the statute of limitations sua sponte. *See id.* (reversing judgment where the district court raised statute of limitations sua sponte).

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