QUESTION PRESENTED FOR FURTHER REVIEW 

 

I. Whether the Court of Appeals erroneously concluded that 

Plaintiffs/Appellants ("TSB") Petition met minimal notice pleading 

requirements concerning its takings claim. 
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  STATEMENT RESISTING FURTHER REVIEW  

 Defendant/Appellee City of Iowa City (the "City") seeks further 

review of the Court of Appeals' conclusion that TSB's Petition in this 

action met notice pleading requirements contrary to the conclusions of 

the trial court.  The City argues that the Court of Appeals' ruling is in 

conflict with prior court rulings regarding notice pleading.  TSB 

contends that the Court of Appeals' ruling is consistent with this Court's 

prior rulings regarding same and therefore the City's Application for 

Further Review should be denied.  
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BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TSB'S RESISTANCE TO THE CITY'S 
APPLICATION FOR FURTHER REVIEW 

 
I. THE COURT OF APPEALS PROPERLY CONCLUDED THAT TSB'S 
 PETITION MET MINIMAL NOTICE PLEADING REQUIREMENTS 
 
 The Court of Appeals concluded that TSB's Petition in 

CVCV075457 met minimal notice pleading requirements regarding its 

takings claim and reversed the trial court's conclusion to the contrary.  

TSB Holdings, L.L.C. v. City of Iowa City, 2017 WL 4570511, at 10 (Iowa 

App., 2017).  The City seeks further review of the Court of Appeals 

ruling.  In its effort to obtain further review the City accuses TSB of not 

"prosecuting" its takings claim until after the trial court granted the 

City's Motion for Summary Judgment concerning the validity of 

Ordinance 13-4518.  See City's Application at 5 ("Therefore, notice 

pleading should not give a litigant the freedom to revive a claim it chose 

not to prosecute throughout years of active litigation based on a vague 

illusion in its petition after the case is disposed of on summary 

judgment (emphasis in original)).  The City also attempts to characterize 

TSB's petitions as seeking only to invalidate Ordinance 13-4518 and 

that therefore TSB's petitions did not put the City on notice of a 

potential damage claim related to the passage of Ordinance 13-4518.  Id. 

at 8-11.  As discussed below the City was well aware of a possible 
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takings claim in advance of the trial court's summary judgment ruling 

and therefore the Court of Appeals correctly concluded that TSB's 

Petition met notice pleading requirements.    

 The starting point is TSB's Petition.  As noted by the Court of 

Appeals TSB's Petition in CVCV075457 alleged that the passage of 

Ordinance 13-4518 would result in an unconstitutional taking of its 

property.  App. 162 (Petition).  Iowa is a notice pleading state.  See  Am. 

Family Mut. Ins. Co. v. Allied Mut. Ins. Co., 562 N.W.2d 159, 163 (Iowa 

1997). Under notice pleading, a party is not required to plead or identify 

specific legal theories of recovery or even allege ultimate facts 

supporting a claim.  Id.  A petition need only give a defendant "fair 

notice of a claim asserted so a defendant can adequately respond."  Id.  A 

pleader need not even identify specific legal theories in a petition.  

Cemen Tech. v. Three D. Indus., LLC, 753 N.W.2d 1, 12 (Iowa 2008) (citing 

Roush v. Mahaska State Bank, 605 N.W.2d 6, 10 (Iowa 2000)).  A 

pleading is sufficient if it apprises of the incident out of which a claim 

arises and the mere general nature of the action.  Rieff v. Evans, 630 

N.W.2d 278, 292 (Iowa 2001).  In addition to alleging that the passing of 

ordinance 13-4518 would result in an unconstitutional taking of its 

property, TSB's Petition contains a prayer for general equitable relief.  
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App. 162 ("Plaintiff prays that [sic] for such further relief as the court 

deems just and equitable in the premises.").  Such a prayer is liberally 

construed and will often justify granting relief in addition to the relief 

contained in the specific prayer, provided it fairly conforms to the case 

made by the petition and the evidence.  Lee v. State, 844 N.W.2d 668, 

679 (Iowa 2014). 

 The issue before the trial court, and the Court of Appeals, was 

whether TSB's Petition provided the City notice of the incident giving 

rise to its takings claim and the general nature thereof.  In this regard  

American Family is instructive.  In American Family, American Family 

Insurance brought a declaratory judgment action for indemnity against 

Allied Insurance Company for payments made in connection with 

settling a claim.  American Family, 562 N.W.2d at 159.  Allied moved for 

and obtained summary judgment on American Family's contribution 

claim based on American Family's pleading only an indemnity claim and 

its failure to plead a claim for contribution.  Id. at 163.  The Supreme 

Court reversed the district court's grant of summary judgment and 

concluded that American Family's petition met notice pleading 

requirements concerning its contribution claim. Id. The Court stated 

that a petition gives fair notice if it informs the defendant of the incident 
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giving rise to the claim and the claim's general nature.  Id  (Citations 

omitted). 

 The American Family Court held that a petition met notice 

pleading requirements for a contribution claim even though the term 

"contribution" did not appear in the petition.  American Family, 562 

N.W.2d at 163.  If there was no separate contribution claim in American 

Family's petition there could not be a separate claim for damages 

related thereto.  If the petition in American Family met notice pleading 

requirements when the cause of action was not even identified, TSB's 

Petition meets notice pleading requirements.  TSB's Petition, which 

pleads the zoning and calls the rezoning an unconstitutional taking of 

TSB's property, puts the City on notice of the facts giving rise to the 

claim and its general nature.  See Rick v. Boegel, 205 N.W.2d 713, 715 

(Iowa 1973) ("When the Petition is not attacked until after the answer, 

the Petition will be liberally construed in favor of Plaintiff so as to 

effectuate justice, and pleader will be given advantage of every 

reasonable intendment (citations omitted")).  Given the allegations in 

TSB's Petition, the request for general equitable relief, the applicable 

liberal pleading rules and the American Family and Lee holdings, the 

Court of Appeals properly concluded that the trial court erred in 



 10  

concluding that TSB's Petition did not meet notice pleading 

requirements. 

 The City seeks to distinguish American Family and Lee by 

asserting they were "active" cases; TSB's claim was not "active," the 

argument goes, because TSB never "pursued" its takings claim until 

after summary judgment when it filed its Motion to Enlarge.  See City's 

Application at 13 ("TSB took no action on its alleged taking claim until 

after the district court filed its summary judgment ruling.  The cases 

cited by the court of appeals [American Family and Lee] contemplate 

that a claim was litigated while the case was active" (emphasis in 

original)); Id. at 9, 10 ("TSB could identify no portion of the record 

identifying the issue of damages during litigation other than in their 

(sic) Rule 1.904(2) Motion." (emphasis in original)).  The City's 

argument is without merit.  Any suggestion that TSB's takings claim 

came to light only after the trial court's ruling on summary judgment is 

incorrect.  At the hearing on both TSB's and the City's Motion, TSB 

repeatedly stated that regardless of the outcome on the validity of 

Ordinance 13-4518 TSB's takings claim still remained for trial.  App. 201 

(Counsel for TSB: "There is--We're going to have a trial on the takings 

claim, no matter what, even if the City's motion is granted"); 208 
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(same); Id. 213 (Counsel for the City: "We disagree that they have 

actually alleged a takings claim..."); Id. 215 (TSB's counsel quoting the 

taking allegation in TSB's Petition).  Long before summary judgment 

became an issue there were a number of documents in the record before 

the trial court showing that the City was aware of a potential damage 

claim related to the passage of Ordinance 13-4518.  See Exhibit A 

attached to Plaintiffs’ Motion to Enlarge, Modify or Amend (September 

19, 2012 letter to the City) ("[i]f the property is downzoned, it will 

result in a substantial decrease in value of the property, and likely a 

claim for damages against the City.");1 App. 76 ("Greenwood-Hektoen 

said a takings claims is defensible with what's proposed because they 

still have economically viable uses of the property...); Return of Writ and 

Verification of Record in CVCV075457 at 84 (Barkalow letter 

mentioning regulatory taking); Id. at 180 (Larson letter to council) 

                                                 
1 TSB acknowledges that the Court of Appeals erroneously attributes 
this language to TSB's Petition.  This letter comes from an attachment to 
the City's own Motion for Summary Judgment.  The City suggests this 
"mistake" is outcome-dispositive.  TSB suggests the Court of Appeals 
ruling would be no different had it correctly identified the genesis of 
this language.  The point of this letter and the cites that follow is to show 
that the City was aware of a possible takings claim even before TSB filed 
its lawsuits against the City.  The Court of Appeals so noted when it held 
that "the City had notice of such a claim and has never contended 
otherwise..."  TSB Holdings, L.L.C. , 2017 WL 4570511, at 10. 
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("Finally, if the proposed Ordinance is approved and goes into effect, my 

clients will have a very strong case for inverse condemnation"). 

 The City suggests that the trial court dismissed TSB's takings 

claim was because it was "raised" after the ruling on summary judgment 

when the case was "inactive."  See City's Application at 7 ("The district 

court correctly held notice pleading did not provide TSB the freedom to 

change the nature of its action after summary judgment was decided 

against it").  This argument is false.  In its ruling the trial court itself 

noted that TSB alleged that Ordinance 13-4518 would result in an 

unconstitutional taking.  App. 170 (ruling).  The trial court nevertheless 

granted dismissal of "all claims pled," a line adopted from the City's 

proposed ruling.  Id. at 181.  TSB filed its Motion to Enlarge to seek 

clarification as to whether the trial court intended to dismiss TSB's 

takings claim based on its adoption of the City's "all claims pled" 

language.  As a part of its Motion TSB brought the above-mentioned 

documents, already in the record, to the trial court's attention.  App. 

166, 167 (TSB Motion to Enlarge); See TSB's July 1, 2015 Reply.  In 

ruling on TSB's Motion to Enlarge the trial court acknowledged that 

TSB's petition mentioned an unconstitutional taking but nevertheless 

concluded that TSB's Petition failed to meet notice pleading 
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requirements because it "did not clearly state any separate takings 

claim or claim for damages."  App. 184.  The basis of the trial court's 

dismissal was TSB's failure to use the word "damages" in its petition 

and not because TSB raised any arguments after the trial court ruled 

favorably on the City's Motion for Summary Judgment.  To use the City's 

terms, TSB's takings claim was "active" at the time the trial court ruled 

on the City's Motion for Summary Judgment.   The Court of Appeals held, 

based on American Family and Lee, that the failure to specifically 

mention damages was not fatal to TSB's takings claim.  American Family 

and Lee are on point and the Court of Appeals reliance on them was 

appropriate. 

 Next, the City repeats its arguments about the contents of TSB's 

Petitions and how they focus primarily on invalidating Ordinance 

134518.  See City's Application at 8-11.  Just because TSB's Petitions 

made reference to the illegality of Ordinance 13-4518 and sought to 

invalidate it does not mean that TSB was willing to forgo the 

opportunity to recover damages by agreeing with the City to attempt to 

determine the validity of Ordinance 13-4518.  Even if Ordinance 13-

4518 was validly enacted it may nevertheless result in a taking entitling 

TSB to compensation.  See Hunziker v. State, 519 N.W.2d 367, 372 (Iowa 
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1994) (Snell, J. dissenting); Fitzgarrald v. City of Iowa City, 492 N.W.2d 

659, 665 (Iowa 1992) (stating that the frustration of investment-backed 

expectations by a zoning ordinance may constitute a taking for which 

compensation is due).  Had TSB prevailed in invalidating the ordinance 

the takings claim would be moot.2 The City is aware that the typical 

remedy for a taking is damages.  Moreover, as outlined above and found 

by the Court of Appeals, the City had been aware of possible damage to 

the property resulting from the imposition of Ordinance 13-4518. 

 Finally, the City makes a litany of new complaints about how it 

would have proceeded differently had it realized TSB brought a takings 

claim, how neither TSB nor the City engaged in discovery, designated 

experts, how TSB sought summary judgment and not partial summary 

judgment, how TSB stated in a pleading that there exist no genuine 

issues of material fact for trial, how the trial court recognized that TSB 

and the City agreed to continue the original trial date so the Court could 

determine whether the matter could be disposed of on summary 

judgment, and complains about trial by ambush.  See City's Application 

                                                 
2 This is exactly what happened in Kempf v. City of Iowa City, 403 N.W.2d 
393 (Iowa 1987) the genesis of this litigation, where the Court held the 
downzoning to be a taking of parts of the property but invalidated it 
thereto rather than award damages. 
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at 11-14.  All of these "points" are irrelevant to the issue of whether 

TSB's Petition met notice pleading requirements.  The Court of Appeals 

concluded that the allegation about an unconstitutional taking was 

sufficient to put the City on notice of the facts giving rise to TSB's 

takings claim.  TSB Holdings, L.L.C. , 2017 WL 4570511, at 10.   The Court 

of Appeals did not think it necessary to specifically request damages to 

raise such a claim as the trial court did.  The Court of Appeals further 

buttressed its conclusion by pointing out that the City only attacked 

TSB's pleading and never denied having notice of such a claim.  Id.  It is 

only now, for the first time in its Application, that the City claims it 

would have pursued a different litigation strategy.  The City will have 

the opportunity to pursue such strategy at the trial of TSB's takings 

claim.  The City has not been prejudiced at all. 

II. SUMMARY 

 The primary purpose of pleading rules is to provide notice and 

facilitate a fair and just decision on the merits of a case.  Estate of Kuhns 

v. Marco, 620 N.W.2d 488, 491 (Iowa 2000).  Pleading rules do not exist 

to allow a mistake in the pleading to determine the outcome of a case.  

Id. (citing Conley v. Gibson, 355 U.S. 41, 48 (1957) (relation back case).  

The policy of Iowa is to allow a determination of controversies on the 



 16  

merits.   Jack v. P and A Farms, Ltd., 822 N.W.2d 511, 519 (Iowa 2012).  

TSB's Petition met minimal notice pleading requirements and the Court 

of Appeals properly so concluded.  The City's Application for Further 

Review raises no novel proposition of Iowa law nor does the Court of 

Appeals' ruling run contrary to any law established by this Court.  The 

City's Application for Further Review should therefore be denied. 

III. CONCLUSION 

 TSB asks that this Court deny the City's Application for Further 

Review in its entirety. 

REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT 

 Notice is hereby given that Appellant requests oral argument 

on this matter.